



Climate Change Expert Group Paper No. 2009(2)

Linking Mitigation Actions in Developing Countries with Mitigation Support: A Conceptual Framework

J.A. Kim, J. Corfee-Morlot (OECD) and P. de T'Serclaes (IEA)

OECD/IEA CLIMATE CHANGE EXPERT GROUP PAPERS

This series is designed to make available to a wider readership selected papers on climate change issues that have been prepared for the OECD/IEA Climate Change Expert Group (CCXG). The CCXG (formerly called the Annex I Expert Group) is a group of government delegates from OECD and other industrialised countries. The aim of the group is to promote dialogue and enhance understanding on technical issues in the international climate change negotiations. CCXG papers are developed in consultation with experts from a wide range of developed and developing countries, including those participating in CCXG Global Forums.

The full papers are generally available only in English.

The opinions expressed in these papers are the sole responsibility of the author(s) and do not necessarily reflect the views of the OECD, the IEA or their member countries, or the endorsement of any approach described herein.

Comments on the series are welcome, and should be sent to <u>env.contact@oecd.org</u> or the Environment Directorate, 2 rue André Pascal, 75775 PARIS CEDEX 16, France.

OECD/IEA Climate Change Expert Group Papers are published on www.oecd.org/env/cc/ccxg.htm

Applications for permission to reproduce or translate all or part of this material should be made to: OECD Publishing, <u>rights@oecd.org</u> or fax 33 1 45 24 99 30.

This document has been produced with the financial assistance of the European Union. The views expressed herein can in no way be taken to reflect the official opinion of the European Union.

Copyright OECD/IEA, 2009

Applications for permission to reproduce or translate all or part of this material should be addressed to: Head of Publications Service, OECD/IEA 2 rue André Pascal, 75775 Paris Cedex 16, France or 9 rue de la Fédération, 75739 Paris Cedex 15, France.

ABSTRACT

The Bali Action Plan introduced the notion of linking GHG mitigation action in developing countries with support for such action, in a "measurable, reportable and verifiable (MRV)" manner. However, it does not specify the relationship or link that may be made between nationally appropriate mitigation actions (NAMAs) in developing countries and mitigation support. It also remains unclear whether the MRV requirements apply to the link between NAMAs in developing countries and mitigation support, or to one or both of the separate elements. This paper suggests a number of elements for a possible conceptual framework to "link" mitigation actions with mitigation support, including practical considerations for how one might measure, report and verify progress, with a view to understanding the role for such a framework in a post-2012 agreement.

The design of a successful and effective linking framework might aim to achieve a number of specific goals. On the action side, a key goal may be to integrate NAMAs in developing countries into national development plans and to address a significant mitigation opportunities. On the support side, important goals are perhaps cost-effectiveness and how to prioritise spending. For a linking framework to successfully address these issues, both actions and support would need to be measurable, reportable and verifiable (MRV). Building on existing systems, a framework for MRV based on both the actual, possible or planned mitigation actions in developing countries as well as on current (public) mitigation support from developed countries could be a good starting point for further development of a linking framework.

JEL Classification: F53, Q54, Q56, Q58

Keywords: Climate change; mitigation; greenhouse gas; developing countries

RÉSUMÉ

Le Plan d'action de Bali a proposé pour la première fois l'idée de relier l'action d'atténuation des GES dans les pays en développement au soutien à cette action, de façon "mesurable, notifiable et vérifiable" (MNV). Toutefois, il ne précise pas la relation ou le lien qu'il est possible d'établir entre les actions d'atténuation appropriées au niveau national (les NAMA) dans les pays en développement et le soutien à l'atténuation. De même, on ignore encore si les exigences en matière de mesure, notification et vérification (MNV) s'appliquent à la relation entre les NAMA dans les pays en développement et le soutien à l'atténuation, ou à l'un de ces deux éléments, ou aux deux séparément. Ce document avance un certain nombre de suggestions pour construire un cadre conceptuel susceptible de "relier" les actions d'atténuation et le soutien à l'atténuation, y compris des considérations pratiques sur la façon de mesurer, de notifier et de vérifier les progrès réalisés, l'objectif étant de se faire une idée précise de la fonction d'un cadre conceptuel de cette nature dans un accord pour l'après 2012.

L'élaboration d'un cadre de mise en relation efficace et bien conçu pourrait viser un certain nombre d'objectifs précis. S'agissant des actions, un objectif essentiel serait d'intégrer aux plans nationaux de développement les NAMA dans les pays en développement et de prendre en compte les possibilités d'atténuation significative. Du côté du soutien, les objectifs importants sont peut-être de rechercher un bon rapport coût-efficacité et de définir comment hiérarchiser les dépenses par ordre de priorité. Pour que le cadre de mise en relation soit efficace à ces égards, tant les actions que le soutien devraient être mesurables, notifiables et vérifiables (MNV). Dans le prolongement des systèmes existants, un bon point de départ pour poursuivre l'élaboration de ce cadre de mise en relation serait peut-être un cadre de MNV établi sur la base des actions d'atténuation effectives, possibles et prévues dans les pays en développement d'une part, et du soutien (public) à l'atténuation actuellement apporté par les pays développés d'autre part.

Classification JEL: F53, Q54, Q56, Q58

Mots-clés: Changement climatique; atténuation; gaz à effet de serre; pays en voie de développement

FOREWORD

This document was prepared by the OECD and IEA Secretariats in March 2009 in response to the Annex I Expert Group on the United Nations Framework Convention on Climate Change (UNFCCC). The Annex I Expert Group oversees development of analytical papers for the purpose of providing useful and timely input to the climate change negotiations. These papers may also be useful to national policy-makers and other decision-makers. In a collaborative effort, authors work with the Annex I Expert Group to develop these papers. However, the papers do not necessarily represent the views of the OECD or the IEA, nor are they intended to prejudge the views of countries participating in the Annex I Expert Group. Rather, they are Secretariat information papers intended to inform Member countries, as well as the UNFCCC audience.

The Annex I Parties or countries referred to in this document are those listed in Annex I of the UNFCCC (as amended at the 3rd Conference of the Parties in December 1997): Australia, Austria, Belarus, Belgium, Bulgaria, Canada, Croatia, Czech Republic, Denmark, the European Community, Estonia, Finland, France, Germany, Greece, Hungary, Iceland, Ireland, Italy, Japan, Latvia, Liechtenstein, Lithuania, Luxembourg, Monaco, Netherlands, New Zealand, Norway, Poland, Portugal, Romania, Russian Federation, Slovakia, Slovenia, Spain, Sweden, Switzerland, Turkey, Ukraine, United Kingdom of Great Britain and Northern Ireland, and United States of America. Korea and Mexico, as OECD member countries, also participate in the Annex I Expert Group. Where this document refers to "countries" or "governments", it is also intended to include "regional economic organisations", if appropriate.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

This paper was prepared by Joy Aeree Kim, Jan Corfee-Morlot (OECD), and Philippine de T'Serclaes (IEA). The authors would like to thank Helen Mountford, Richard Baron, Jane Ellis, Katia Karousakis and delegates from the Annex I Expert Group for the information, comments and ideas they provided. The authors would also like to acknowledge ideas and data work provided by Bruno Guay (former OECD staff) and Kate Larsen (former IEA staff) on the issue of mitigation support and the written comments provided on an earlier version of the paper from the Spanish, UK and US delegations.

Questions and comments should be sent to:

Andrew Prag OECD Environment Directorate, ENV/CBW 2, rue André-Pascal 75775 Paris cedex 16 France Email: andrew.prag@oecd.org Fax: +33 1 45 24 97 77

All OECD and IEA information papers for the Climate Change Expert Group on the UNFCCC can be downloaded from: <u>http://www.oecd.org/env/cc/ccxg.htm</u>

TABLE OF CONTENTS

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY	6
1. INTRODUCTION	7
2. A CONCEPTUAL FRAMEWORK TO LINK MITIGATION ACTIONS WITH SU	PPORT8
 2.1 Defining 'nationally appropriate mitigation actions' (NAMAs) 2.2 Defining domestic implementation requirements 2.3 Defining mitigation support 	
3. LINKING ACTIONS WITH SUPPORT	10
 3.1 From actions to support	11 13 13 15
4. DISCUSSION – TOWARDS A LINKING FRAMEWORK	18
5. CONCLUDING REMARKS	23
REFERENCES	24
GLOSSARY	27
ANNEXES	
 Annex I: Climate change funds, development assistance in the environmental area: Examples of Principles, eligibility & disbursement criteria Annex II: DAC guidance: strategic environmental assessment 	28

LIST OF TABLES

LIST OF FIGURES

Figure 1: Support for Developing Country Mitigation Action	18
Figure 2: Framework for a Linking Mechanism	19

Executive Summary

While the Bali Action Plan suggests the possibility of linking GHG mitigation action in developing countries with support for such action, in a "measurable, reportable and verifiable (MRV)" manner, it does not specify the relationship between nationally appropriate mitigation actions (NAMAs) in developing countries and support for such actions. In particular it leaves open the question of whether or not the two should be explicitly linked, or whether progress in one area might be dependent on progress in the other area (e.g. actions are dependent on financing or financing is dependent on actions). It also remains unclear whether the MRV requirements apply to the link between NAMAs in developing countries and mitigation support, or to one or both of the separate elements.

An effective framework to link mitigation actions in developing countries with mitigation support from developed countries¹ could provide a means to better match financial and technical mitigation support with the mitigation priorities and opportunities identified by developing countries. As such, it could be a means to advance ambitious global mitigation under the post-2012 agreement in a measurable and cost-effective way. A linking framework could also incentivise mitigation that would be additional to what could be achieved unilaterally or through the existing carbon market. This paper suggests a number of elements for a possible conceptual framework to "link" mitigation actions with mitigation support, including practical considerations for how to measure, report and verify progress, with a view to understanding the role for such a framework in a post-2012 agreement.

The design of a successful and effective linking framework might aim to achieve a number of specific goals. On the action side, a key goal may be to integrate NAMAs in developing countries into national development plans (or at least a national mitigation strategy) and to address a significant portion of a country's mitigation potential opportunities, particularly for the more advanced developing countries. In this context the paper raises several questions such as:

- Are the NAMAs covered in a linking framework helping to deliver greenhouse gas (GHG) reductions in the medium-term to long-term, in addition to what might already be achieved unilaterally or through the carbon market?
- Are the NAMAs designed to identify the scale and nature of the mitigation support required for the implementation?
- Are the NAMAs consistent with and mutually supportive of domestic development priorities?

On the support side, important goals are perhaps cost-effectiveness and how to prioritise spending, thus key questions might include:

- Is the linking framework designed to target support to NAMAs in a manner that delivers least-cost mitigation and maximises the performance of necessarily limited public support?
- What eligibility criteria and priorities for spending should guide decisions on where to direct mitigation support?'

For a linking framework to successfully address the above issues, in fact, both actions and support would need to be measurable, reportable and verifiable (MRV). Building on existing systems, a framework for MRV based on both the actual, possible or planned mitigation actions in developing countries as well as on current (public) mitigation support from developed countries could be a good starting point for further development of a linking framework. At a minimum, decisions at the upcoming 15th Conference of the Parties (COP-15) to the UN Framework Convention on Climate Change might aim to advance MRV of both elements individually to enable better understanding of possible (or actual) linking between action in developing countries and support from developed countries.

¹ The Bali Action Plan reference to support could refer to support that is provided within a country (i.e. from the government's own revenues), support that is transferred from one or more developing countries to other developing countries (South-South support), and/or support from developed countries to developing countries (North-South support). This paper focuses on support between "contributor" (or donor) and recipient countries.

1. Introduction

The Bali Action Plan introduced the notion of linking greenhouse gas (GHG) mitigation actions by developing countries, and support for such actions. Paragraph 1(b) (ii) of the Bali Action Plan calls for:

Nationally appropriate mitigation actions by developing country Parties in the context of sustainable development, supported and enabled by technology, financing and capacity-building, in a measurable, reportable and verifiable manner.

This suggests that either or both nationally appropriate mitigation actions (NAMAs) and technology, financing and capacity building (referred to here as "mitigation support") should occur in a manner that is measurable, reportable and verifiable (MRV).² However, the Bali Action Plan does not specify the relationship between NAMAs in developing countries and support for such actions. In particular it leaves open the question of whether the two should be linked or whether progress in one area is dependent on progress in the other area (e.g. actions are dependent on financing or financing is dependent on actions). It also remains unclear whether the MRV requirements apply to the link between NAMAs in developing countries and mitigation support, to one or both of the separate elements or to all three dimensions of the linking notion.

Designing an effective framework for linking mitigation actions in developing countries with mitigation support from developed countries³ could be a means to advance ambitious global mitigation under the post-2012 agreement. Such a framework could aim to better match financial and technical mitigation support with the mitigation priorities and opportunities identified by developing countries, i.e. NAMAs.

This paper outlines a conceptual framework for "linking" mitigation actions with mitigation support which in turn will provide insights into what is needed to measure, report and verify progress within such a framework. The paper is structured as follows: Sections 2 and 3 sketch a conceptual framework for linking mitigation actions with support. Building on the conceptual framework, Section 4 concludes by highlighting important issues for the design of an effective linking framework in the post-2012 agreement.

² In defining a framework for MRV of action and/or support, many issues still remain to be addressed. Still to be defined for the post-2012 regime are the scope of what needs to be measured (e.g. GHG outcomes, intermediate outcomes, or inputs), how it should be measured, when MRV is required, and who should be responsible for doing it. Work on MRV of mitigation actions is addressed in a separate paper (Ellis and Moarif, 2009). Similarly work on MRV of mitigation support is forthcoming and we have drawn on this work to write this paper.

³ See Infra note 2.

2. A Conceptual Framework to Link Mitigation Actions with Support

The process of linking mitigation actions with support involves at least three steps:

- i. Identification of mitigation actions or NAMAs in developing countries and estimation of their potential effects on GHG emissions.4
- ii. Identification of domestic implementation requirements.
- iii. Identification of the need for and/or availability of relevant mitigation support.

Linking mitigation actions in developing countries with developed country support could start by identifying what constitutes NAMAs, perhaps in the form of a national action plan or strategies, or by a listing of appropriate policies and measures. A second and intertwined step is to understand what is required to implement the actions at the domestic level. Based on this assessment, the host country could estimate the amount and type of mitigation support that would be required or desired. In parallel, the availability of mitigation support going to a particular country or category of countries could be assessed. Support for mitigation action within developing countries could be of different kinds: from the finance of technology acquisition to the technical training of government officials in a specific policy area; however, if the target is mitigation, support should ultimately affect GHG emission performance, either directly or indirectly, at national or sub-national scale. Before moving onto the various elements of this framework, the next section defines key concepts.

2.1 Defining 'nationally appropriate mitigation actions' (NAMAs)

What constitutes NAMAs still remains to be determined. Regarding the content of NAMAs, several proposals are currently on the table, including:

- Sustainable development policies and mechanisms (SD-PAMS).⁵
- A national strategy on climate change or policy packages aimed at delivering broad improvements in GHG emissions, including specific energy policies aimed at improving the carbon and energy intensity.⁶

For the purpose of this paper, NAMAs include actions targeting GHG mitigation directly (climate-specific) as well as actions that would occur regardless of climate change reasons (climate-relevant) but that directly

⁴ Mitigation actions or NAMAs should in principle be linked to GHG performance or to other proxies of performance (e.g. change in energy use or area reforested) (Fransen et al. 2008). However in practice it is often difficult to isolate and accurately estimate the effects of individual or even clusters of mitigation policy or actions (Michaelis 1998; Ellis and Larsen 2008). One way of addressing this problem is perhaps by carrying out an ex-ante estimation of mitigation for NAMAs followed by ex-post assessment.

⁵ The proposals by the EC and its member States, Republic of Korea, the Philippines, Singapore and South Africa all include SD-PAMS as NAMAs (UNFCCC, 2008b). South Africa for instance proposed that SD-PAMs approach can be applied to reducing emissions from energy supply and use, but equally to reducing emissions from deforestation and degradation (REDD) in developing countries through incentives (funding for SD-PAMS; public funding or market-linked sources). However it is proposed here not to limit the scope of NAMAs to these sectors alone.

⁶ The proposals by the EC and its member States and South Africa include this type of actions as NAMAs (UNFCCC, 2008d; UNFCCC, 2008b). Other forms of NAMAs proposed by several countries including Canada, EC and its member States, Australia, Japan and South Africa include sectoral trading and sectoral crediting mechanisms. EC, Japan and South Africa also proposed to include programmatic CDM and no-lose sectoral crediting baselines as NAMAs (UNFCCC, 2008b).

affect GHG emissions (e.g. energy efficiency policy).⁷ In this case, NAMAs include policy reforms that drive actions to reduce emissions, even if GHG mitigation is not the main goal of the policy. Ideally the scope of NAMAs would be broad enough to include policies and measures in all sectors with high mitigation potential. NAMAs may also occur at different levels or scales of action; that is they might be at project level, sector level or at more programmatic or national level, providing a framework for integrating low-carbon, climate-friendly practice strategically across all sectors within a national economy.⁸

Within the context of a linking process, it may also be important who decides what a NAMA is and how it is decided. For example, mitigation actions could be identified by the developing country in consideration of the global mitigation objectives and specific commitments agreed internationally in a post-2012 framework.

NAMAs can also take various forms including different types of policies and measures with varying forms and degrees of monitoring, verification and enforcement. The types of action include: institutional reform (e.g. introduction of renewable energy law); new regulatory measures (e.g. appliance energy efficiency standards and/or product labelling, design standards for building efficiency); fiscal measures (e.g. reduced VAT and income tax for wind energy investment and projects; removal of subsidies to fossil fuel use) or R&D support (e.g. public financing of R&D for clean coal technology). A number of soft measures may also affect GHG emissions including voluntary agreements with the business sector (e.g. an energy efficiency accord in a particular part of the industrial sector), education and information measures (e.g. a public awareness campaign targeting consumer behaviour; incorporation of climate change information into national educational curricula). Importantly, different types of measures may have different possibilities for measurement, reporting and verification (see Ellis and Moarif, 2009).

2.2 Defining domestic implementation requirements

The implementation of mitigation actions will require a variety of changes at the domestic level, from changes in institutions to changes in investment, productive capital and technology. The same policy or type of mitigation action may require different changes in different countries, and only those familiar with the specific domestic policy context will be in the position to accurately assess implementation requirements.

Domestic implementation requirements refer to changes in these various inputs to turn mitigation potentials and supporting policy options into mitigation actions. This could include, for example, the establishment of policy frameworks that favour investment, that educate the workforce and that incentivise research and innovation. These changes must be seen as part of the broader enabling environment for investment which steers domestic as well as foreign private investment (UNFCCC, 2008f). Given that public finance is inevitably more limited and constrained than private finance, a key aspect of a domestic policy framework will be to provide incentives for private investment to flow toward clean, climate-friendly development options. In this context, the goal of NAMAs must be to mainstream incentives for clean development into sectoral and other policy frameworks to guide private investment to green technology and practices increasingly over time.

⁷ Although some countries may consider actions related to preparing and reporting GHG inventories and National Communications part of NAMAs, this paper does not focus on these types of actions and support provided for such actions. However the Convention obligates developed countries' to provide support to fulfil national reporting requirements (i.e. to prepare and submit national GHG inventories to monitor changes in emissions by sources and removals by sinks over time; and national communications to share information on national actions to implement the Convention).

⁸ This was referred to as a 'compact approach' in a statement by Ed Miliband, Energy and Climate Change Secretary of the UK delivered at the special workshop on a shared vision during COP-14 in Poznan, December 2008.

Box 1. Domestic Implementation Requirements: An Example from the Power Sector

In the power sector, a nationally appropriate mitigation action, for example, might be to expand the share of renewable energy in the electricity supply mix. Enabling this objective may first require an improvement of the domestic transmission grid, towards what some have referred to as "smart grids" (Talbot 2009). Modern electricity transmission infrastructure is essential to enable better development and use of renewable energy in the power sector. In many countries the transmission infrastructure is not in the private domain, but partially or totally owned and operated by the government or by regulated companies. Providing incentives for such operators to accommodate a larger share of renewable could be a necessary condition to pave the way for more renewable sources. As such, electricity transmission or grid infrastructure may be an important target for public action and finance, at a minimum to leverage private finance and investment towards low-carbon power generation. Ultimately investment in a "smart" grid may be a pre-requisite to successful national renewable energy policy reform in the power sector.

2.3 Defining mitigation support

For the purposes of this paper, mitigation support is defined as international action that would trigger, or directly provide financing, capacity building and technology support.⁹ . Specifically:

• "Mitigation specific support" targets greenhouse gas mitigation in developing countries as its main objective.¹⁰ It may also include public finance (or capacity building) or private finance, for example through the international carbon market.

As noted above the source of mitigation support may be public or private. Specifically finance for mitigation may be public, for example, in the form of ODA or otherwise from public treasuries, and where dispersal is overseen through government decision-making. Alternatively it may be private, for example, working through energy markets, where competition through the market determines any allocation of resources and where government policies serve only to guide or shape market activities (and to penalise any misbehaviour). Finally public-private partnerships are also common, particularly in some relevant areas such as energy supply, transport or water infrastructure, where there is some combination of both public and private finance, for example where public investment stimulates and leverages private finance.

A second dimension of mitigation support is its geographic origin or type. Mitigation support can be North-South, with finance flowing from developed to developing countries. It can also be South-South, where finance flows from one developing country to another. It may also be domestic where the finance is generated domestically (in this case from within the developing country itself). For any particular NAMA, it may be essential to use a mix of these different types of finance.

3. Linking Actions with Support

As mentioned earlier, the process of linking mitigation actions in developing countries with support would involve several steps. A number of questions trace these steps and guide this investigation of "linking":

⁹ The Bali Action Plan, like the Kyoto Protocol and the Climate Convention, identify these three forms of mitigation support. In practice finance is cross-cutting and would be needed to support capacity building and technology. The discussion here focuses on financing but is intended to be broad enough to also cover other forms of support such as in-kind contributions of expertise and advice.

¹⁰ This type of support may also target reporting requirements (e.g. preparation and reporting of national greenhouse gas inventories or of national communications including a description of national mitigation policies and measures). Reporting is related to mitigation capacity because it is essential to enhance understanding and implementation of effective mitigation policy, and may thus also be essential to be linked to support.

- How to ensure that NAMAs deliver cost-effective, measurable and additional GHG mitigation?
- How much will implementation of NAMAs cost?
- What support does Country A need to implement the NAMAs? How can such needs be evaluated?
- If there is X amount of (public) resources available for mitigation support, how can it be best directed to maximise the mitigation results that derive from that investment? How can it be assured that support for mitigation action also enhances development outcomes in developing countries?
- What eligibility criteria and priorities for spending should guide decisions on where to direct mitigation support?
- Aside from cost-effectiveness, what other considerations should influence decision-making about how to direct mitigation support?

The following section further illustrates the process of linking actions with support and what is needed to measure, report and verify progress.

3.1 From actions to support

A linking exercise first might consider mitigation actions in developing countries in the context of their GHG performance and look at what resources (financial and human) would be needed for their implementation both at the domestic and international levels for their implementation. Whatever form NAMAs might take, they should clearly demonstrate measurable GHG mitigation as one of the main end results.¹¹ At a minimum, NAMAs could be submitted with estimates of their GHG mitigation potential. Mexico in its National Strategy on Climate Change for instance identifies opportunities for mitigation measures and corresponding mitigation potential in sectors such as energy and land-use change and vegetation (see Box 2) (World Bank, 2008)¹²

Implementing mitigation actions will have implications for different types of inputs at both domestic and international levels. For instance, mitigation actions such as introducing an industry energy efficiency law, fiscal subsidies for clean fuels and building codes that improve energy efficiency principally require institutional and regulatory reforms at the domestic level. Implementing such actions may further require changes of technologies and infrastructure or promoting certain types of technologies. For instance, implementing energy efficiency laws in industry may involve the promotion of technologies such as combined heat and power (CHP) systems and energy efficient electric motors. A relevant question for successful implementation of NAMAs is thus: what are the inputs required for implementing mitigation actions at the domestic level? This question covers several related questions: Should there be new technology subsidies or other market incentives, or mandatory performance standards to be put in place by the government as part of its mitigation effort? Should there be training provided to support the adoption of new practices? And if so how should it be provided and financed?

The analysis of a linkage between mitigation actions and their implementation requirements at the domestic level could increase understanding of successful implementation of mitigation actions at the

¹¹ See Infra note 5.

¹² In its proposal on 'registry', South Korea proposes that the expected quantify of mitigation resulting from its NAMAs to be registered together with NAMAs (UNFCCC, 2008e). See Infra note 4 for further discussion on this issue.

domestic level and more accurate implementation costs (Fransen et al. 2008). It could also help developing country Parties strategize mitigation actions in a broader policy framework, thereby enabling more efficient and effective implementation of mitigation actions.

In linking NAMAs in developing countries with developed countries' support, another important question is 'How can countries identify support needs and for which actions?' The parallel submissions for a 'registry' or 'register' of NAMAs by South Korea and South Africa (UNFCCC, 2008f) suggest that developing countries may voluntarily register NAMAs and specify support needed for their implementation.¹³ However there is little discussion of supporting ex ante analysis or of ex post review mechanisms to support decision-making on the key question of how to prioritise spending to ensure effectiveness and efficiency in investments over time.

The European Commission's (EC) recent communication on 'low carbon development strategies' also highlights that developing country actions should be entered into an international registry with measurable, reportable and verifiable mitigation benefits and that the strategies should identify the support required to cover the incremental costs of implementing the proposed actions. To facilitate the provision of the identified support needs, the EC therefore proposes to carry out an ex ante technical analysis on the following issues: business-as-usual emissions estimates; technology and policy assumptions underlying proposed actions; and incremental cost estimates (EC, 2009a; EC, 2009b).

Box 2. An Example of Linking Actions with Support

The Government of Mexico has requested US\$501.2 million from the International Bank for Reconstruction and Development (IBRD) to implement the National Climate Change Strategy; the NCCS has outlined the various actions to address climate change in a number of sectors including energy, water, housing, tourism, agriculture and forestry. While mitigation potential was also estimated for actions proposed in priority areas, implementation cost of the proposed actions is not readily available.¹⁴ Hence matching the scale of support needed for implementation with the cost of these actions is difficult.

Source : World Bank (2008)

Another question is 'Which actions would be subject to the provision of support? In its proposal, South Korea distinguishes actions that developing countries would take unilaterally, i.e. without support, and additional actions with support, which are subject to the identification of support needs and their provision. The EC communication also distinguishes between 'autonomous action' on the one hand,¹⁵ or those with low or negative overall costs, mainly to be financed and implemented by the country (e.g. energy efficiency), and 'additional or supported actions' on the other hand, which would require assistance, due to their incremental costs, in the form of financing, technology or capacity building for implementation (e.g. in the buildings or transport sectors) (EC, 2009b).

¹³ The two proposals diverge on their view of the role of registry or register; South Korea emphasizes that the registry of NAMAs could serve as a basis of institutional framework of recognizing domestic actions of developing countries, while South Africa highlights in its proposal that the idea of registry is to a certain extent in line with Article 12.4 of the Convention requiring developing country Parties, on a voluntary basis, to propose projects for financing along with, if possible, an estimate of all incremental costs of the reductions of emissions as well as an estimate of the consequent benefits (UNFCCC, 2008d; UNFCCC, 2008e).

¹⁴ Mexico is undertaking a major analysis of the economic impacts of climate change on Mexico, following the approach of the Stern Review released in 2006. This study, which was due for completion in 2008, will predict aggregate physical and economic costs of climate change including adaptation and mitigation, rather than disaggregate costs of specific actions. The study is sponsored by the British Government and the Inter-American Development (World Bank, 2008).

¹⁵ Autonomous action could be supported by capacity buildings and targeted international loan schemes.

One of the challenges to these proposals however is to distinguish 'autonomous' or 'unilateral' actions from 'additional' or 'supported' actions, particularly when the cost of implementing NAMAs is hard to estimate as observed in the case of Mexico. Another option would be to define "additional" action on the basis of the past emission performance – either nationally or sectorally – thus a sort of historical baseline against which future action could be assessed. The challenge of additionality may not be a bottle neck to the linking process as long as a national strategy with an "acceptable" level of mitigation is proposed by developing countries.¹⁶ The question then becomes how to share the initial cost of mitigation action rather to identify whether which proposed actions are additional to what would have happened otherwise.

It should be born in mind that while external financial support required for the implementation of actions concerns public finance in the short term, the dynamics of support is expected to change over time, as policy reforms resulting from such actions should trigger a shift of private finance towards GHG-reducing practices. Support could in fact leverage domestic and/or foreign private finance by enabling the implementation of policies needed to trigger investment in low-GHG technologies and practices, without requiring additional support once these policies are in place.

3.2 From support to actions

It is also possible to start with support for developing countries and ask the question of how to link it to additional mitigation action in developing countries. With respect to a non-market or public assistance mechanism, the key design challenge will be to determine who and what activities are eligible for assistance and then to disburse the support in a manner that is cost-effective, such that it maximises results across agreed objectives for a given investment. If economic efficiency or cost-effectiveness were the only consideration, a reverse auction¹⁷ approach could be suggested to address the question of how to disperse limited funds to priority, high-return projects (Greenhalgh et al. 2007). However, further analysis is needed on the likely effectiveness and feasibility of implementing such an approach in this context. In addition, other criteria such as fairness, accountability and transparency in decision-making may need to be taken into account in the management of any new public funds made available for mitigation support.

The question then is how to disburse the necessarily limited public funding for support in such a way that mitigation goals are met along with other performance objectives. Typically the management of public environmental funds is guided by an agreed set of rules or "operational guidance" principles that guide decision-making (OECD, 2006). It is likely that Parties to the UNFCCC would adopt their own principles for the management of any fund available for mitigation support.

3.2.1 Eligibility criteria and spending priorities for public support

Within the operational guidance for environmental funds, the central elements are typically rules about what sort of activity (or recipient) is eligible for funding and what the priorities for spending are. Karousakis and Corfee-Morlot (2007) commented on the challenge of developing and administering fund-based mechanisms to support climate change in the forestry area and similar principles apply here. They said:

In the case of a fund, it is likely that a number of developing countries will wish to benefit from such funds, whether they are for capacity building or for mitigation purposes, and that the financial resources available will not be able to meet all the needs. Without a clear spending strategy and eligibility and selection criteria

¹⁶ What is acceptable in terms of mitigation goals at national level might require review and acceptance internationally or by contributor countries, for example, by comparison to any agreed global mitigation goals.

¹⁷ Reverse auctioning refers to a process where a given amount of funds is disbursed through a bidding exchange, in this case it would be where recipients of mitigation support would compete to deliver the "best" package of results in terms of GHG reductions in a given period per unit of mitigation support available.

based on cost-effective solutions to environmental priorities, the allocation of financial resources becomes sub-optimal and wasteful. This is also raised in the OECD Council Recommendation on Good Practices for Public Environment Expenditure Management, which highlights the need for expenditure programmes, including the appraisal, scoring, ranking and selection of projects (OECD, 2006).¹⁸ Such criteria and priorities also enhance transparency and accountability in the operation of environmental funds, which are essential for avoiding ad-hoc political influence and mismanagement of public funds (e.g., safeguarding against corruption and fraud, and identifying and eliminating conflicts of interest).

There may also be a number of examples already available in the international arena, from which guidance might be drawn. This includes for example recent OECD Development Assistance Committee (DAC) guidance on "strategic environmental assessment" or their forthcoming guidance on climate change adaptation (OECD 2005; OECD forthcoming 2009). Both these documents aim to increase the environmental effectiveness and mainstream environmental or climate change (adaptation) concerns systematically into development assistance practice and national development planning, in line with the Principles of the Paris Declaration on Aid Effectiveness and the Accra Agenda for Action.¹⁹ These include, in particular, a focus on developing country ownership; alignment of donor support to partner countries' national development strategies, institutions and procedures; and harmonisation of practices by donors to minimise transaction costs for developing countries.

There are also already several specific multilateral funds that target climate change, all of which have formal rules covering eligibility and guidance for prioritisation of spending. These include the Global Environmental Facility, the Climate Technology Fund (which is part of the climate investment fund (CIF) and others (see Annexes I & II).

In looking across these examples, a key conclusion is that there is no "standard" approach or clear guidance to date on how to define "good practice" in the area of international financing as it pertains to GHG mitigation. However it may be possible to draw on practical examples in related areas to suggest a number of common elements that could be further developed into an agreed listing of eligibility criteria. Minimum criteria could include:

- Existence of a national GHG mitigation strategy, or one covering a critical mass of a country's total emissions.
- Internationally harmonised national GHG inventory data and documentation of past emission trends from which changes in future GHG emissions can be assessed
- Demonstration of potential of the national strategy to reduce emissions over the medium and long-term and consistency with global emission goals.
- Consistency of the mitigation strategy with relevant national, sub-national and/or infrastructure development plans.
- Ability to leverage private finance toward GHG friendly investments over time.

¹⁸ Although the OECD Council Recommendation on Good Practices for Public Environment Expenditure Management is focused on national funds, lessons can be drawn for the management of international funds.

¹⁹ See: www.oecd.org/dac/effectiveness and www.accrahlf.net.

3.2.2 Challenges

The challenge for a linking process that begins with consideration of mitigation support is two-fold: first in estimating future support likely to be available (or even in accurately measuring the level of support currently available); second is to relate support to action on the ground and to assess the results in the context of GHG mitigation. Any linking exercise is likely to fail without sound ex post tracking on the ground where actions are being taken.

On the first issue of estimating how much support is likely to be available, there is some experience on which to draw to estimate at least the current level of support. It is possible today to estimate public financial support that is already flowing from the North to the South and to establish a more comprehensive system to monitor these flows from existing statistical systems and information sources. Although it is difficult to obtain a complete overview, there is sufficient information from various sources to indicate that large amounts of public finance – on the order of several billion USD per year – are currently available for mitigation-specific (or reporting) support purposes. This public support has been channelled through the Global Environmental Facility (GEF), or other multilateral or bilateral channels (Table 1). Establishing such a system would be a useful starting point and could be extended to include any scaling up of future flows of public finance.

It may also be possible to extend such a monitoring system over time to include estimates of private finance that flowing to mitigation-relevant activity. Of course in the aggregate, mitigation-specific public finance is dwarfed by mitigation-relevant finance²⁰ and by private finance (including the CDM and other carbon market finance which directly targets mitigation), thus indicating the importance of using public finance to leverage private investment towards low emission options (Table 1, also Figure 1).

On the second issue of the links between public support mechanisms and actions, there is also some experience from which it is possible to examine past performance of existing mitigation support. For example, the GEF investments in climate change projects are fairly well documented including assessment of key results; such examples could provide insights into how well a non-market public financial mechanism performs in terms of delivering change that leads to cost-effective, additional GHG mitigation and/or dynamic efficiency gains over time (see Box 3). Overall GEF programmes also demonstrate that it is possible to monitor the performance, ex post, of this type of mitigation support. The assessments also demonstrate the possibility to use mitigation support to transform the market, and leverage private sector investments. As such the GEF approach provides an example for linking support to mitigation which could be used as a point of reference in future decisions.

²⁰ 'Mitigation-relevant support', as defined here, may have a large (positive or negative) influence on GHG emission trends. This is financing for development, specifically in the key sectors that will shape future GHG emissions in developing countries. Relevant financing includes, for example, potentially large portions of bilateral and multilateral official development assistance (ODA) in energy and/or water infrastructure, waste management, agricultural or forestry sector development. It also includes collaborative research and development (R&D) initiatives that may not target or include consideration of climate change per se (e.g. in the energy and agricultural sectors). Finally, private sector flows, in the form of foreign direct and domestic investment, are shaping the pace and profile of future developing country emissions, and thus mitigation potential. It is important to note that these financing pathways may have either positive or negative effects on the levels of greenhouse gas emissions in any individual national context and are significantly larger than mitigation-specific support flows.

Type of	Amount	Metric	Reporting	Reporting instrument &	Review
Support	Amount	wittit	Entity	frequency	Keview
National programmes & funding for (art 4.3 & 4.5)	5 billion USD in 2003 ^a	Monetary & qualitative	Annex II countries	National Communications under the UNFCCC (4 comms to date: 94-95, 97-98, 2001-02, 2006	UNFCCC reviews of nat. comms.
GEF	Average of 220 million USD/year between 2003 and 2006 (GEF-3)	monetary	GEF	GEF annual reports; GEF reports to the COP every 4 years	UNFCCC COP review every 4 years (4 th review 2006)
Climate- specific bilateral ODA	2.8 billion USD in 2007 ^b	monetary	OECD DAC – climate change Rio marker	OECD CRS database annual reporting (soon to be institutionalised)	DAC-CRS statistical review
MDBs climate- specific funding	Est of 4 billion USD annual average 2006- 2007 ^c	monetary	MDBs	None- but consolidated database, work in progress Annual reports, individual MDBs have some information	No multilateral review
Capacity building support	Non monetary	Qualitative and quantitative	Parties, donors and recipients, UNFCCC Secretariat	UNFCCC Capacity building review every 4 years	SBI review every 4 years
Technology support	Non monetary	Qualitative and quantitative	UNFCCC (EGTT in development)	TT: Project database EGTT indicators in development – not clear whether / how these would be integrated into national reporting	UNFCCC SBI
CDM investments	26.5 billion USD in 2006 ^c	monetary	UNFCCC	UNFCCC and World Bank estimates	No review
CDM Value of CERs	1.6 to 2.6 billion USD ^d	monetary	UNEP-RISOE for volume of CERs and number of projects	World Bank value estimates (UNEP-RISOE continuous monitoring of projects and CERs)	No review

Table 1. Current estimates of mitigation specific support and MRV features by source

a-Includes bilateral contributions and contributions to GEF, excludes contributions to multilateral banks and international institutions, thus double counting amounts reported for GEF and for bilateral funding below.

b-Germany, Luxembourg, Netherlands and Norway not reporting for this specific year and only partial reporting in the US. See OECD – CRS, 2008, Aid commitments targeted at the objectives of the Rio Conventions, <u>www.oecd.org/dac/stats/idsonline</u>

c- Estimates from the World Bank (2006) Clean Energy and Development: Towards an Investment Framework, available from http://siteresources.worldbank.org/DEVCOMMINT/Documentation/20890696/DC2006-0002(E)-CleanEnergy.pdf. This estimate excludes investment from the European Investment Bank because it is largely in Europe or other Annex I countries and the estimate would not be comparable to other values in the table. The estimate is based on the World Bank consultations with other MDB partners.

d – Review of the annual reports does not seem to allow cross-checking with these estimates. It is important to note that financial review of MDB annual reports would be undertaken under normal audit procedures for public institutions.

e- Estimated value of annual emission reductions for projects that entered the pipeline in 2006 (UNFCCC 2007). This estimate is made using an average price of USD 10.70 per tCO2 eq. as reported by Capoor and Ambrosi (2007)

Box 3. A GEF Example: Link between Mitigation Support and Actions

The Global Environment Facility (GEF) is the main financial mechanism under the UNFCCC. It approaches climate change mitigation investments through a range of specific programme areas including: removing barriers to energy efficiency; promoting and improving the use of renewable energy; reducing costs of low GHG emitting energy; supporting sustainable transportation; and a catch-all of activity that includes creating the proper policy and institutional environment, capacity building, loans, technology transfers and risk guarantee mechanisms. The GEF's portfolio also shows the total investment in climate change by different sectors and sub-sectoral mitigation end-points, such as energy efficiency, renewable energy, and sustainable transport (GEF 2008b).

GEF climate mitigation programmes are all subject to regular evaluations which identify, track results and help to flag whether or not they are replicable or other locations. However, despite regular evaluation (i.e. every four years), the programmes are not dependent on a results-based approach and at the project level (rather than the broader programme level), and there is still no systematic evaluation and reporting to assess project-by-project performance (GEF, 2008).

A number of examples can be drawn from the energy efficiency programme area which has led to an undeniable change in energy use. For example, from 1993 to 2000, the GEF implemented a demand-side management plan in Thailand, with an overall budget of USD 189 million. The money was co-financed through a GEF grant of USD 9.5 million, a loan from the Australian Government of USD 5.4 million, and a loan of up to USD 25 million from the Overseas Economic Cooperation Fund of Japan, and finally funds from the state-owned public electricity utility, the Electricity Generating Authority of Thailand. The programme resulted in the installation of approximately 1.5 million CFLs in Thailand. CFLs consume on 8 times less than the incandescent bulbs that were replaced and the programme contributed to a drop in CFL price of 30 to 35% during the same period. The Thai DSM project also demonstrated the importance of institutional changes where the market share of CFLs grew from 40 to 100% and led to the creation of a demand-side management office in Thailand within the national utility. In turn, this new institution was able to negotiate voluntary agreements with the private sector, and promote energy efficiency appliances through awareness campaigns and labelling programmes (see Buchner and de T'Serclaes, forthcoming). Overall, the post implementation report of the GEF estimates that the programme led to energy savings of 3 140 GWh per year, a peak reduction of 566 MW, and an estimated GHG emission reduction of 2.32 Mt/CO_2 -eq per year.

Other GEF mitigation programmes more specifically target reduction in the price of low-emitting GHG energy technologies. In such programmes the GEF provides grant financing to reduce the costs of highly efficient technologies. This strategy builds on the idea that providing developing countries with early experience in new, emerging, low-GHG emitting energy generating technologies in niche applications will contribute to the expansion of the demand for these technologies, which in turn will increase production and reduce costs. The Fuel Cell Bus (FCB) project in China is one of the best examples in this part of the GEF programme. The project Demonstration of Fuel Cell Bus Commercialization in China (GEF Grant: \$5.77m) is part of the November 2005 GEF Work Program. It intends to support the commercial viability and replicability of the FCB. By 2010, it is planned that production of FCBs reaches a number of 30 per year, a number that is expected to stimulate the production of the technology by local Chinese companies. Daimler Chrysler (China) is the central corporate partner in the project and is gaining experience with FCB production early in its production cycle (GEF, 2006; UNDP/GEF, 2005).

Source: GEF/World Bank, 2006, GEF, 2006, UNDP/GEF, 2005

In terms of measurement, reporting and verification (MRV) of mitigation support, there is a need to develop a coherent system for tracking origins, flows and end-points of such support. At a minimum, for a linking mechanism to be transparent, such a framework would need to consider first mitigation support going to developing countries as a group or to a particular country individually. Secondly this would result from changes in interim and final outputs that affect GHG emissions over time (Figure 1). In the area of

intermediate outcomes, changes in domestic policies may eventually lead to more favourable conditions for investment in low-carbon outcomes (i.e. in clean technology). Depending on the status of the local enabling environment for investment, there may be changes required in basic legal frameworks (i.e. protection of intellectual property rights or the rule of law), development of research clusters drawing on public and private resources, or other institutional changes that create local conditions that are favourable to private investment generally. Beyond this of course specific climate change, energy or environmental policy reforms can have a direct effect on the attractiveness of investments in low-carbon versus highcarbon alternatives. These include a wide range of options, as noted above, ranging from regulations targeting energy efficiency in consumer products or buildings to cross-cutting instruments that explicitly put a price on carbon emissions (e.g. through CO_2 tax or establishment of a GHG emission trading system). Final outcomes may include changes in GHG emissions (presumably in aggregate terms) or other proxies for emission performance, such as increased institutional capacity, change in carbon intensity of the economy, or research, development and demonstration of climate-friendly technologies.



Figure 1: Support for Developing Country Mitigation Action

This section has considered how to start from support, or the inputs side of the equation, to estimate the specific or aggregate effects on emissions over time. This presupposes some important analysis and work to define and assess: (i) what falls within the scope of support and carefully tracking flows of support from the contributor or investor to the recipient(s); (ii) the effects of the support on GHG emissions at project, programme, sectoral or country scale. An immediate challenge is that emphasis on measurable GHG mitigation could overlook important intermediate outcomes such as changes in domestic policy that will generate ongoing sources of domestic and foreign private investment in low-carbon technologies and practices.

4. Discussion – towards a linking framework

The foregoing highlights key issues to be considered in linking mitigation actions and support with a view to outlining a linking framework. This section explores what might be the goals of such a mechanism, how it might function and how performance or "success" could be assessed. Presumably the aim of such a linking framework would be to better match the available mitigation support in developed countries to the mitigation needs and priorities advanced by developing countries within the broader context of development planning across different scales. However the overarching goal would also need to be to contribute to Article 2 of the UN Framework Convention on Climate Change and in particular to enhance measurable mitigation action in a post-2012 agreement. In the medium- to long-term, effective GHG

mitigation requires the integration or mainstreaming of mitigation into domestic policy frameworks across all major sectors of national economies and all major countries, developed and developing. Ideally, such a framework for "linking" would facilitate greater (and possibly more cost-effective) mitigation than would occur otherwise. A number of other objectives might also be inferred from the language of Article 2, including that such a mechanism is consistent with and contributes to sustainable development or, from a developing country point of view, to facilitate the support available for mitigation action.

Some Parties have also elaborated further on possible objectives of a linking mechanism (EC, 2009a; EC, 2009b). The EC has called for a "new facilitative mechanism for mitigation support" which matches proposed actions with appropriate bilateral and multilateral support mechanisms, based on a technical assessment (EC, 2009a).²¹ The EC also suggests that the mitigation supported through such a mechanism would be additional to that achieved through existing carbon market mechanisms.



Figure 2: Framework for a Linking Mechanism

Source: Authors

Because environmental effectiveness in a post-2012 agreement requires GHG mitigation to occur in both developed and developing countries, it would be important that a linking mechanism contributes to incentivising mitigation that would be additional to what would occur otherwise. Such a mechanism could be designed to integrate consideration of climate change into development strategies (i.e. through low-carbon development strategies) with the provision of support and, eventually, to enable emitting entities in the country to access international carbon finance. Currently mitigation action through the CDM provides offsets from developing country projects for developed country emissions. Such an offset mechanism can be an important bridging mechanism to lower the cost of mitigation and to incentivise learning about mitigation opportunities in countries not taking on quantitative emission targets. However, it is not

²¹ See paragraph 29 for the details of EC's proposal.

designed to deliver net emission reductions in a global context.²² The environmental imperative of the coming decades will be to limit global emissions. As a result, there is a need to broaden the market mechanisms through which large, rapidly developing countries can access the carbon market. Building the capacity to access markets through provided support could therefore be an important target of any possible future linking mechanism (see Figure 2).

The discussion above suggests that the design of a successful and effective linking framework might aim to achieve a number of specific goals. In particular, criteria for success might include:

- **GHG performance:** Are the NAMAs covered in a linking framework helping to deliver national GHG reductions in the medium-term to long-term, consistent with global mitigation goals and needs?
- Additionality: Are the NAMAs covered under the framework going to bring about low-carbon and low-GHG outcomes beyond what is already occurring
- **Identifying support needs:** Are the NAMAs designed to identify the scale and nature of the mitigation support required for the implementation (e.g. technology or capacity building assistance)? Are they integrated with national development policies and plans in the host countries?
- **Cost-effectiveness:** Is the linking framework designed to target support to NAMAs in a manner that delivers least-cost mitigation and maximises the performance of necessarily limited public support? Do they enable or enhance access to international carbon markets?
- **Dynamic efficiency:** Is the linking framework designed to steer financial and other forms of support to where it is needed most from an environmental and economic perspective over time, i.e. where emissions are growing fastest, where there is potential to incentivise long-term change over time that will stimulate investment in low-carbon innovation? How to link support to further development of developing countries' strategies and systems to ensure ability to respond to the changes in the international framework.²³
- **Strengthening domestic capacity and enabling environments for low-carbon investment:** What are the implementation requirements of the proposed NAMAs at the domestic level and how can mitigation support be designed to deliver on these? How will support improve the feasibility of full implementation?
- **Procedural efficiency and equity:** Who decides what NAMAs are considered for support and/or what amount of support is to be provided for a given action? And how are these decisions made?

On the side of mitigation action or NAMAs in developing countries, there is currently no systematic monitoring system other than national communications to collect information on what actions countries are taking or planning to take with an expected effect on GHG emissions. Although some of the relevant information may be found in national communications, there is no standard guidance on how to report

 $^{^{22}}$ In other words, the emission reductions are instead of rather than additional to the reductions required in developed countries.

 $^{^{23}}$ The 'compact approach' recommended by the UK government would be based around: 1) an international compact; agreement to the balance of resources between adaptation and mitigation, and the financial needs of different nations; 2) a national compact: national plans drawn up by each country, reflecting their own priorities, reviewed and reported on internationally to ensure every country is both ambitious and credible; and 3) a delivery compact: money should flow directly into central budgets, but only with the assurance of robust governance and transparency. For more details, see the speech delivered by Ed Miliband, Energy and Climate Change Secretary of the UK (UK, 2009).

mitigation measures nor are national communications frequent enough to provide consistent (time-series) data and information. Building on current guidelines, a linking framework suggests further consideration should be given to improving the national reporting system (i.e. through the national communications tool), for example, to allow for a more comprehensive reporting of mitigation-relevant actions and support, to broaden the number of countries reporting in a harmonised manner and the frequency of reporting.

Aside from a more comprehensive listing of measures, it would also be desirable to have an indication of performance, i.e. ex ante, to estimate expected performance, and ideally ex post, as a means to verify performance once the measures have been put in place (Michaelis, 1998). Developing ex ante performance estimates may require modelling capacity which may only be in place in the largest of developing countries. Future emissions can be estimated using simple trend analysis, on the basis of past emissions, or at sub-national scale (i.e. sector or the project level). Ex post performance assessment may be complex and is only be practical in the aggregate, when looking across packages or clusters of measures. At a minimum, ex post historical assessment should occur at national level through the reporting of comprehensive, harmonised annual national inventories such as is currently required of Annex I Parties under the Kyoto Protocol (e.g. using IPCC inventory methods and a common reporting format).

Although there are few examples of quantitative estimation of emission reductions from planned actions in developing countries, it is clearly possible to do so. The Mexico example, referred to above, demonstrates this point. Also all Annex I countries are required to estimate the GHG mitigation effects of mitigation policies and measures ex ante in the form of aggregate projections of emissions with and without these "added" mitigation measures. This allows aggregate estimates of performance over time to be developed, to better understand and track progress in terms of mitigating emissions under the Kyoto Protocol and the Convention. As noted above, in terms of verification of performance, ex post estimates are available in the aggregate through the national GHG emission inventories that Annex I countries submit on an annual basis.²⁴ This example, taken from the MRV framework for Annex I countries, demonstrates at least one model for how tracking of the performance of NAMAs might be advanced.

If one of the aims of a linking mechanism is cost-effectiveness, it would also be necessary to estimate the cost of undertaking NAMAs. Presumably beyond the total implementation cost of the measure there would be some sub-set of cost which would be covered through external mitigation support, with the difference between total implementation cost and external support being the share that would be covered internally from domestic public or private finance. The Mexico example may suggest that some cost estimation is possible across a package of measures.

On the side of mitigation support, some monitoring capacity and systems of reporting already exist under the Convention, particularly through the reporting that is occurring within Annex I Party national communications. However the current reporting of information on mitigation support is unstructured and thus inconsistent and incomplete and significantly more work would be required to strengthen measurability and reporting in this area. A number of information sources exist outside of the Convention process, some of which are harmonised national statistical systems (e.g. GEF, Creditor Reporting System Development Assistance Committee (CRS-DAC) data) and these could be further developed and brought into a coherent framework in a post-2012 regime. However considerable work would be required to harmonise data sets and to ensure that all relevant information is reported in such a way that information across sources can be compared and collated.

Financial assistance is most tractable in monetary terms and often such financial support is channelled through capacity or technology assistance programmes. However there is also information about other forms of mitigation support e.g. such as expert exchange programmes, or in-kind technology cooperation (See Table 1). Specific guidance on how to report qualitatively on these different (non-financial) forms of

²⁴ The adequacy of national inventories for verification of performance needs to be examined with a view to further improvements of such inventories.

support might be needed to enhance transparency and understanding about what is occurring and how significant it is.

Reporting on financial mitigation support can be disaggregated at sectoral level, which may assist with the linking of such support to mitigation performance assessment. For instance, bilateral financial mitigation support is reported by Annex II parties in their fourth National Communications to UNFCCC and, in parallel, reported to the OECD through the CRS (OECD 2008). Both sources provide information on the sector endpoints of bilateral mitigation assistance (UNFCCC 2007). The Global Environment Facility's portfolio shows the total investment in climate change by different sectors and sub-sectoral mitigation endpoints, such as energy efficiency, renewable energy, and sustainable transport (GEF 2008b). This financial support would also ideally be further disaggregated by source of financial support and specific sectors in each country destination.²⁵ Currently there is no systematic verification of the amounts or usage of public mitigation support (GEF 2008a). On the bilateral side, this information is largely self-reported and accuracy will vary depending on the quality of original data collection and internal procedures (Hicks et al. 2008). Multilateral sources of mitigation support are less systematically reported and would need to be brought into a harmonised framework to complete the overview of what is available.

Data gaps and inconsistencies in the UNFCCC reporting system, are another practical challenge as the level of disaggregation that Parties report regarding their financial contributions and support for technology and endogenous capacities of developing countries vary. Due to the cross-cutting nature of capacity building, reports on capacity building also tend to cover a broader range of activities than climate change (UNFCCC 2004; UNFCCC, 2008; UNFCCC, 2008a).

²⁵ It may be important to note that currently, it is not possible to link specific Annex II contributions to climate change directly, as all Annex II contributions to the GEF are aggregate contributions for all focal areas; only a subsequent decision by GEF Council allocates funding to the various focal areas. This institutional structure thus decouples the donor from the climate change or other focal area end-point for those contributions.

5. Concluding remarks

A successful linking framework could contribute to achieving more ambitious GHG mitigation in a post-2012 agreement by incentivising mitigation that would be additional to what would occur otherwise. A well-designed linking framework could integrate consideration of climate change into development planning at the domestic level (i.e. through mitigation or low-carbon development strategies) and, if practical over time, help to enable rapidly industrialising countries (and emitting entities within these) to better access international carbon markets.

To this end, there is a need to agree on the broad lines of a linking framework, starting with its goals and rules for participation, as well as operational guidance. The foregoing suggests that the goals for such a framework might be: to ensure the GHG performance of NAMAs; to identify support needs; to target support to NAMAs in a cost-effective manner; to steer financial and other forms of support to where it is needed most from an environmental and economic perspective over time; to strengthen domestic capacity and enabling environments for low-carbon investments; and to ensure procedural efficiency and equity in the provision of support.

In addition, public funding will necessarily be limited and require agreement upon guidance for disbursement. A reverse auction approach could be an option to ensure economic efficiency and cost-effectiveness, although other criteria for performance may also be relevant (e.g. feasibility, accountability, equity). A brief review of past experience suggests that there is no "standard" approach or clear guidance to date on how to define "good practice" in the area of international financing as it pertains to GHG mitigation. Yet eligibility criteria could include: i) existence of a national GHG mitigation strategy; ii) internationally harmonised national GHG inventories (possibly for specified years); iii) demonstration of mitigation potentials and of how the national strategy taps these potentials; and iv) ability to leverage private finance toward GHG friendly investments over time.

In addition, to develop a successful linking framework suggests that both actions and support would need to be measurable, reportable and verifiable (MRV). Building on existing systems for either support or actions, a framework for MRV based on actual, possible or planned mitigation actions in developing countries as well as on different sources and types of mitigation support could be a good starting point for further development of a linking framework. On this issue, it could be useful for COP-15 to agree to advance MRV of both elements individually to enable better understanding of possible (or actual) linking between action in developing countries and support from developed countries.

References

- Birner, S. and E. Martinot (2005), "Promoting energy-efficient products: GEF experience and lessons for market transformation in developing countries". *Energy Policy*: 33.
- Buchner, B. and P. de T'Serclaes (2009, forthcoming), "Triggering energy efficiency: The case for carbon finance?" IEA: Paris.
- Capoor, K. and P. Ambrosi (2007), *State and Trends of the Carbon Market 2007*. World Bank: Washington, DC. Available at: <u>http://carbonfinance.org/docs/Carbon Trends 2007- FINAL -</u> <u>May 2.pdf</u>
- CEPS (2008), *Global sectoral industry approaches to climate change: the way forward*. CEPS Task Force Report. CEPS: Brussels.
- Ellis J. and K.M. Larsen (2008), "Measurement, reporting and verification of mitigation actions and commitments". *OECD/IEA Information Paper*, Paris. <u>http://www.oecd.org/env/cc/41762333.pdf</u>
- Ellis J. and S. Moarif (2009), "GHG mitigation actions: MRV issues and options". *OECD/IEA Information Paper*, Paris. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1787/5k4695890xd6-en</u>
- European Commission (January 2009a), Communication from the commission to the European parliament, the council, the European economic and social committee and the committee of the regions; towards a comprehensive climate change agreement in Copenhagen.
- European Commission (January 2009b), Communication from the commission to the European parliament, the council, the European economic and social committee and the committee of the regions; towards a comprehensive climate change agreement in Copenhagen. Additional background information.
- Fransen, T., H. McMahon and S. Hakhooda (2008), Measuring the way to a new global climate agreement, Discussion Paper. World Resources Institute: Washington DC. http://www.wri.org/publication/measuring-the-way-to-a-new-global-climate-agreement
- German Agency for Technical Cooperation (2007), *Energy-policy framework conditions for electricity* markets and renewable energies: 23 country analyses chapter China.
- Global Environmental Facility (GEF) (2002), GEF Lessons Notes 14: Best Practices in Project Monitoring and Evaluation: Lessons Learned in Manufacturing and Marketing of Energy Efficient Products www.gefweb.org
- GEF (2006), UNDP-GEF Fuel-Cell Bus Program: Update. GEF Council.
- GEF (2008a), Elaboration of a Strategic Program to Scale up the Level of Investment in the Transfer of Environmentally Sound Technologies, GEF Council; Washington, DC.
- GEF (2008b), http://www.wri.org/publication/measuring-the-way-to-a-new-global-climate-agreement Investing in our Planet: Gef Annual Report 2006-2007. GEF: Washington, DC.
- GEF/World Bank (2006), Post-Implementation Impact Assessment: Thailand Promotion of Electrical Energy Efficient Project. Available at: <u>http://siteresources.worldbank.org/globalenvironmentfacilitygefoperations/resources/publications-presentations/thailand.pdf</u>
- Greenhalgh, S., J. Guiling, M. Selman and J. St. John (2007), Paying for Environmental Performance: Using Reverse Auctions to Allocate Funding for Conservation. WRI Policy Note, Environmental Markets: Reverse Auctions, No. 3. WRI: Washington DC.
- Hicks, R.L., B.C. Parks, J.T. Roberts and M.J. Tierney (2008), *Greening Aid? Understanding the Environmental Impact of Development Assistance*, 1st ed, Oxford University Press: Oxford.

- Hohne, N. et al (2008), Proposals for contributions of emerging economies to the climate regime under the UNFCCC post 2012, Environmental Research of the Federal Ministry of the Environment, Nature Conservation and Nuclear Safety.
- Karousakis, K. and J. Corfee-Morlot (2007), Financing Mechanism to Reduce Emissions from Deforestation: Issues in Design and Implementation. OECD/IEA Information Paper; Paris. <u>http://www.oecd.org/env/cc/39725582.pdf</u>
- Karth S. *et al* (2008), Linking measurable, reportable and verifiable mitigation actions by developing countries to measurable, reportable and verifiable financial and technical support by developed countries; analytical notes in support of the implementation of Art.1(b)II of decision 1/CP.13. Conference paper.
- Maskus, K.E. (2004), Encouraging International Technology Transfer, International Center for Trade and International Development (ICTSD), Geneva, Switzerland.
- Michaelis, L. (1998), "Greenhouse Gas Emission Projections and Estimates of the Effects of Measures: Moving Towards Good Practice", OECD Information Paper, ENV/EPOC(98)10, OECD: Paris.
- OECD (2005), Applying Strategic Environmental Assessment: Good Practice Guidance for Development Co-operation, OECD: Paris.
- OECD (2006), OECD council recommendation on good practices for public environment expenditure management. OECD: Paris.
- OECD (2008), *The Creditor Reporting System (CRS) Database*. Available at: <u>http://dx.doi.org/ 10.1787/dev-data-en</u>
- OECD (2009), OECD Guidance on Integrating Adaptation into Development Co-operation. OECD: Paris. Available at: <u>http://dx.doi.org/ 10.1787/9789264054950-21-en</u>
- Talbot, D. (2009), "Lifeline for Renewable Power" in *Technology Review*, 112(1): 40-47. MIT: Cambridge.
- UK (2009), Department for International Development (DFID) conference 'Eliminating World Poverty: Building our Common Future -A conference on the future of international development' held on 8-9 March 2009. Available at: <u>http://www.dfid.gov.uk/securingourcommonfuture/</u>
- UNDP/GEF (2005), Project Write-Ups: *Demonstration of Fuel Cell Bus Commercialisation in China*. Available at: <u>http://www.undp.org.cn/projects/51247.pdf</u>
- UNFCCC (2004), Decision 2/CP.10 Capacity-building for developing countries (non-Annex I Parties), UNFCCC/CP/2004/10/Add.1
- UNFCCC (2006), Recommendations of the Expert Group on Technology Transfer for enhancing the implementation of the framework for meaningful and effective actions to enhance the implementation of Article 4, paragraph 5, of the Convention, UNFCCC/SBSTA/2006/INF.4.
- UNFCCC (2007), Compilation and synthesis of fourth national communications, Addendum: Financial resources, technology transfer, vulnerability, adaptation and other issues relating to the implementation of the Convention by Parties included in Annex I to the Convention. UNFCCC/SBI/2007/INF.6/Add.2
- UNFCCC (2008a), Compilation of capacity-building needs and activities in developing countries. Available at: <u>http://unfccc.int/cooperation_and_support/capacity_building/items/4093.php</u>
- UNFCCC (2008b), Ideas and proposals on the elements contained in paragraph 1 of the Bali Action Plan: submissions from parties. FCCC/AWGLCA/2008/16.
- UNFCCC (2008c), Ideas and proposals on the elements contained in paragraph 1 of the Bali Action Plan: submissions from parties. FCCC/AWGLCA/2008/MISC.5

- UNFCCC (2008d), Ideas and proposals on the elements contained in paragraph 1 of the Bali Action Plan: submissions from parties. FCCC/AWGLCA/2008/MISC.5/Add.1
- UNFCCC (2008e), A proposal for AWG-LCA Republic of Korea. Available at: http://unfccc.int/files/kyoto_protocol/application/pdf/koreabap300908.pdf
- UNFCCC (2008f), Proposed terms of reference for a report on performance indicators and for a report on future financing options for enhancing technology transfer: Note by the Chair of the Expert Group on Technology Transfer, UNFCCC, FCCC/SBSTA/2008/INF.2.
- World Bank (2006), *Clean Energy and Development: Towards an Investment Framework*. Available at: http://siteresources.worldbank.org/DEVCOMMINT/Documentation/20890696/DC2006-0002(E)-CleanEnergy.pdf.
- World Bank (2008), International bank for reconstruction and development programme document for a proposed climate change development policy loan in the amount of US\$501.25 million to the United Mexican State. Official Document. Available at: http://www-wds.worldbank.org/external/default/WDSContentServer/WDSP/IB/2008/03/19/000333037_200803

wds.worldbank.org/external/default/wDSContentServer/wDSP/1B/2008/03/19/00033303/_200803 19005642/Rendered/PDF/425690PGD0R200810051110Box327342B.pdf

Glossary

Bali Action Plan			
Clean Development Mechanism			
Certified Emission Reduction			
Compact Fluorescent Lamps			
Conference of Parties			
Creditor Reporting System			
Greenhouse Gas			
Department for International Development			
Designated National Authorities			
Expert Group on Technology Transfer			
European Union			
Fuel Cell Bus			
International Bank for Reconstruction and Development			
International Panel on Climate Change			
Combined Heat and Power			
Climate Investment Fund			
Global Environmental Fund			
Greenhouse Gas			
German Agency for Technical Cooperation			
Multilateral Development Bank			
Measurable, Reportable and Verifiable			
Nationally Appropriate Mitigation Actions			
Official Development Assistance			
Organisation for Economic and Development Cooperation			
OECD Development Assistance Committee			
Operation Program-5			
Reducing Emissions from Deforestation and Degradation			
Subsidiary Body on Implementation			
Sustainable Development Policies and Measures			
United Nations Framework Convention on Climate Change			
Value Added Tax			

Annex I: Climate Change Funds, Development Assistance in the Environmental Area: Examples of Principles, Eligibility & Disbursement Criteria²⁶

Clean Technology Fund

Source: Excerpted from World Bank, 2008. "Clean Technology Guidelines for Investment Plans", 1 December 2008. <u>http://siteresources.worldbank.org/INTCC/Resources/GuidelinesInvestmentPlansDec1_08.pdf</u> *Italics* added by authors to indicate disbursement criteria

Principles

4. The proposed guidelines for the preparation of CTF Investment Plans take into account the principles agreed by representatives of governments participating in the final design meeting on the Climate Investment Funds (Potsdam, May 2008), and approved by the World Bank's Board at the time of its consideration and approval of the establishment of the CIF in July 2008. These principles are:

- (a) The core mission of the MDBs is sustainable economic growth and poverty reduction. Climate change mitigation and adaptation considerations need to be integrated into the sustainable development process as addressing these issues contributes to the basic human needs of the poorest who are disproportionately impacted by the negative effects of climate change;
- (b) Multilateral development banks can and should play a role in ensuring access of developing countries to adequate financial resources and appropriate technology for climate actions;
- (c) The MDBs should mobilize new and additional financing for adaptation and mitigation programs to address climate change that are country-led and designed to support sustainable development and poverty reduction. Activities financed by the fund should be based on a country-led approach and should be integrated into country-owned development strategies, consistent with the Paris Declaration;
- (d) Achieving sustainable outcomes will require sustaining the total wealth -- produced, human, institutional and natural -- on which development depends;
- (e) The UN is the appropriate body for broad policy setting on climate change, and the MDBs should not preempt the results of climate change negotiations. Actions to address climate change should be guided by the principles of the UNFCCC;
- (f) The MDBs, in collaboration with other development partners, should assist developing countries to build country-level knowledge, capacity and development project experience;
- (g) It is appropriate for the MDBs to build partnerships with each other and a wide range of institutions and stakeholders on climate change, including the private sector. In doing so, each MDB should remain accountable to its governing body;
- (h) Complementarities between activities foreseen for the CTF and activities of the GEF and the UN, especially at the country level, should be identified, and effective cooperation established, to maximize synergies and avoid overlap; and,
- (i) The CTF should provide for transparency and openness in its governance and financing operations.

Operational Procedures for the Preparation of CTF Investment Plans

5. The following procedures will apply to the preparation of CTF Investment Plans.

6. The country's designated focal point for the CTF should send a request to the World Bank Group and/or relevant RDB(s) for a joint mission to initiate the preparation of the CTF investment plan.²⁷

²⁶ This section is adapted from Karousakis and Corfee-Morlot (2007), Annex II.

²⁷ The World Bank wrote to the Ministries of Finance for all IBRD/IDA member countries in July/August 2008 seeking their identification of a national focal point

7. The CTF investment plan is the "business plan" of the MDBs, developed under the leadership of the government, to assist a county with CTF co-financing in implementing its national development strategies or programs that include low carbon objectives. The investment plan is agreed between, and owned by, the Government and the MDBs. It should be a clearly articulated multi-year proposal that would describe the proposed uses of CTF resources, identifying the "slice(s)" of the country's existing strategies and plans that could be co-financed by the CTF.²⁸

8. In some cases, an alternative to taking a nationally-based approach to investment plans might present the option of focusing on a particular sub-national area, such as state, province or city, or a regional or multi-country approach. A group of countries may adopt a regional or multi-country approach through a single, common investment plan. In all such cases, endorsement by the central government would be required.

9. Country access to the CTF will be based on: (a) ODA-eligibility (according to OECD/DAC guidelines) and (b) an active MDB country program.²⁹ When an eligible country (or group of countries) expresses interest in accessing CTF financing, the MDBs' country operations teams will jointly assess the potential for investments in the country (or countries, in the case of regional approaches) to meet *CTF criteria for significant greenhouse gas (GHG) emissions reductions, demonstration potential at scale, development impact and implementation potential, taking into account their country sector dialogue.* The starting point for these assessments for many countries will be existing national strategies, policies and laws, such as for energy efficiency, energy security, renewable energy development, climate change, and/or sector development.

10. If the MDBs' assessment confirms a potential fit with CTF investment criteria, a mission will be arranged, with the Government's consent, to include the World Bank, IFC and relevant RDB public and private sector operations, keeping bilateral and other multilateral development agencies informed.

The Global Environmental Facility

As the financial mechanism for the United Nations Framework Convention on Climate Change (UNFCCC), the GEF's climate change objectives are based on the guidance of the UNFCCC. As the financial mechanism for the UNFCCC, the GEF provides new and additional grant and concessional funding to developing countries and countries with economies in transition to achieve global environmental benefits in climate change. The GEF supports the preparation of the national communications of developing countries to the UNFCCC. The GEF operational strategy for climate change placed initial emphasis on four "Operational Programs" that address long-term program priorities to mitigate climate change: the removal of barriers to energy conservation and energy efficiency; the promotion of renewable energy; the reduction of costs for low GHG technology; and promotion of sustainable transport. The GEF has supported limited activities to sequester carbon, but the goal of sequestering terrestrial carbon is largely a secondary benefit of projects in the biodiversity or land degradation focal areas. Finally the GEF operates a number of special funds that have been created under UNFCCC.

GEF Strategic Approach to Enhancing Capacity Building

The GEF approved a Strategic Approach to Enhancing Capacity Building in November 2003. The approach lays out a multilevel plan for capacity building for global commons and outlines the development of:

- Targets and indicators for measuring results and effects of capacity-building activities.
- Operational modalities and project criteria for implementing the strategic approach.
- Proposals for a technical support programme.
- GEF support for capacity building is to be developed based on four "pathways":

²⁸ Investment Plans may be classified into three categories: (i) public and private sector operations; (ii) public sector operations only; or (iii) private sector operations only.

 $^{^{29}}$ An "active" program is where an MDB has a lending program and/or an on-going policy dialogue with the country.

- A self-assessment of capacity needs by countries.
- Strengthening the capacity-building elements in GEF projects.
- Development of targeted capacity-building projects.
- Country-specific programmes for addressing critical capacity building needs in least developed countries and small island developing states.

For example, a National Capacity Needs Self Assessment (NCSA) program is operational and guidelines have been prepared to assist countries in preparing their NCSAs. Under an NCSA, funding is provided to assist countries for preparing self assessments of their capacity needs and priorities to manage global environmental issues. Once countries identify gaps in capacity building, they are encouraged to develop a plan of action for overcoming the gaps. NCSAs are intended to be entirely country driven, undertaken in accordance with country priorities and situations.

Three dimensions are critically important in deciding how to allocate resources for capacity building for global environmental benefits: How available funds should be distributed among countries, focal areas and programme priorities within a global focal area.

GEF Performance-Based Resource Allocation Framework

The Performance-Based Resource Allocation Framework (RAF) is a new system adopted by the GEF Council in September 2005 to allocate GEF resources to recipient countries based on global environmental priorities and country-level performance. It is an attempt to move in the direction of more targeted resource allocation. The GEF states: *"The RAF allocates resources to countries based on each country's potential to generate global environmental benefits and its capacity, policies and practices to successfully implement GEF projects. The RAF builds on GEF's existing country-driven approach and partnerships with Implementing and Executing Agencies, and provides countries with increased predictability in the allocation of GEF funds."³⁰*

The RAF is initially limited to biodiversity and climate change projects. The GBI for climate change seeks to measure the potential global benefits that can be realized from climate change mitigation activities in a country.³¹ The approach reflects the objectives of the GEF climate change operational programs to address long-term priorities to mitigate climate change. With respect to climate change, the GEF Benefits Index (GBI_{CC}) provides a relative ranking of countries for meeting the climate change objectives of the GEF (which are to contribute to the overall objective of the UNFCCC) under the RAF. The index is constructed from two indicators: (i) baseline GHG emissions for the year 2000 in tons of carbon equivalent; and (ii) Carbon Intensity Adjustment Factor computed as the ratio of the carbon intensity in 1990 to the carbon intensity in 2000:

GBI_{CC} = Baseline GHG Emissions * (Carbon Intensity ₁₉₉₀ / Carbon Intensity ₂₀₀₀)

Baseline GHG emission levels provides a broad measure of the scale of the mitigation potential of a country, while avoiding perverse incentives that results from using current level emissions. To ensure widest coverage among countries, the year 2000 is used as the base year. Including baseline GHG emission levels in the GBI results in a larger GEF Benefit Index for larger emitters. There are two reasons for using GHG emission levels. First, in general, countries with larger emissions have lower abatement costs, which increase less rapidly with abatement than those in countries with smaller emissions. Second, projects are likely to have greater demonstration and learning effects in high emitting countries than in countries with smaller levels of emissions. 7. The carbon intensity of a country measures the tons of carbon equivalent

³⁰ See: GEF (2009) Operational Policies - RAF at a Glance: GEF's New Framework for Allocating Resources. <u>http://www.gefweb.org/Operational%5FPolicies/raf/</u> [accessed 12 February 2009].

³¹ See GEF (2009) Operational Policies - GEF Benefits Index.

http://www.gefweb.org/Operational_Policies/raf/GBI.html [accessed 12 February 2009].

emitted by a country per unit of economic activity (GDP). It changes over time because of (i) increased carbon efficiency brought about by changes in fuels or technology or economic growth; and (ii) structural shifts in the economy away from carbon intensive activities. There are two reasons for using change in carbon intensity. First, reducing emissions will be less costly in countries that have already demonstrated willingness and/or ability to reduce carbon intensity. Second, it rewards countries that have reduced their carbon intensity levels.

Special Climate Change Fund (SCCF)

The SCCF under the Convention was established in 2001 to finance projects relating to adaptation; technology transfer and capacity building; energy, transport, industry, agriculture, forestry and waste management; and economic diversification. This fund should complement other funding mechanisms for the implementation of the Convention. The GEF, as the entity that operates the financial mechanism, has been entrusted to operate the SCCF. Adaptation activities to address adverse impacts of climate change have top priority. Technology is also a priority – key technologies are identified with large GHG mitigation potential and of interest to a large number of developing countries. Activities are financed based on COP guidance.

Forest Carbon Partnership Facility Readiness Mechanism

The preliminary selection criteria for countries identified by the FCPF Readiness Mechanism (i.e. for capacity building) are:

- Relevance of Countries (forest cover; current/expected emissions from deforestation)
- Balance (3 main biomes; geographical balance)
- Ownership of National Government
- Variety of Approaches (Forest types; degradation should be tested; different implementation strategies)

Annex II: DAC Guidance: Strategic Environmental Assessment

Source: Excerpted from OECD 2006. *Applying Strategic Environmental Assessment: Good Practice Guidance for Development Co-operation*. OECD: Paris. <u>http://www.oecd.org/dataoecd/4/21/37353858.pdf</u>

Development assistance is increasingly being provided through strategic-level interventions, aimed to make aid more effective. To ensure environmental considerations are taken into account in this new aid context, established environmental assessment tools at the project level need to be complemented by approaches fully adapted to policies, plans and programmes. Strategic Environmental Assessment (SEA) meets this need.

SEA provides a practical and direct means of progressing MDG 7 on Environmental Sustainability (agreed at the UN General Assembly in 2000). This calls for the "integration of the principles of sustainable development into country policies and programmes". Secondly, SEA also helps further the Johannesburg Plan of Implementation agreed at the World Summit on Sustainable Development in 2002, which stressed the importance of "strategic frameworks and balanced decision making [...] for advancing the sustainable development agenda".

The Paris Declaration on Aid Effectiveness, adopted in 2005, commits donors to reform the way in which aid is delivered to improve effectiveness, by harmonising their efforts and aligning behind partner countries' priorities. It also calls upon donors and partners to work together to "develop and apply common approaches for strategic environmental assessment at sector and national levels".

Application of SEA

The shift of emphasis away from development projects to programme and policy support has created a number of particular entry points for the application of SEA. This guidance outlines the benefits of using SEA in a range of different circumstances, and sets out 12 key "entry points" for effective application of SEA to development co-operation. It points to key questions to be addressed for each of them, accompanied by specific checklists of these questions, and illustrative case examples.

The entry points for SEA can be grouped into 3 areas:

1. Strategic planning processes led by a developing country: These include national overarching strategies, programmes and plans; national policy reforms and budget support programmes; sectoral policies, plans and programmes; infrastructure investments plans and programmes; national and sub-national spatial development plans and programmes and transnational plans and programmes.

2. Development agencies' own processes: These include donors' country assistance strategies and plans; partnership agreements with other donor agencies, donors' sector-specific policies, and donor-supported public-private infrastructure support facilities and programmes.

3. Other related circumstances: These include independent Review Commissions and major private sectorled projects and plans. www.oecd.org/env/cc/ccxg.htm

www.iea.org



With the financial assistance of the European Union